



September 2024

Digital Compacts: Global ideals, regional realities

discussion paper

Contents

Acronyms and key terms
Overview5
Summary6
What is the relationship between digital and data governance?9
Can technology alone enable digital transformation in developing countries?12
Is Big Tech ready to cooperate in a global multi-stakeholder consensus?16
Can a single global authority solve problems rooted in political and economic inequity?21
An achievable roadmap?24
Global principles24
Regional leadership25
Selected bibliography
Global digital governance
Global data governance
African data governance29
Free market arguments30
Critiques30
DI work31
Notes

Acronyms and key terms

Acronyms

Acronym	Meaning
4IR	Fourth Industrial Revolution
ADC	African Digital Compact
Al	artificial intelligence
AU	African Union
CCS-UN	Committee of the Chief Statisticians of the UN
CCSA	Committee for the Coordination of Statistical Activities
EU	European Union
GDC	Global Digital Compact
GDPR	General Data Protection Regulation
HLCP	UN High-Level Committee on Programmes
IGF	Internet Governance Forum
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
RIA	Research ICT Africa
UNCTAD	UN Trade and Development
UNDP	UN Development Programme
UNSG	United Nations Secretary-General
WEF	World Economic Forum

Key terms

Term	Meaning
Artificial intelligence	"An umbrella term for a range of algorithm-based technologies that solve complex tasks by carrying out functions that previously required human thinking."
Big Tech	In this paper, 'Big Tech' refers to five of the biggest US technology companies: Alphabet, Amazon, Apple, Meta and Microsoft.
Data colonialism	"An emerging social order based on the extraction and appropriation of data for the benefit of elites." ²
Data ecosystem	The systems, policies and culture involved in the production and use of data.
Data governance	The principles, standards, plans, strategies, policies, laws, regulations and guidance relating to the production, sharing, security and use of data.
Data landscaping	Development Initiatives' methodology "covers the political economy of data within a country; the structures and standards that govern the collection, production and sharing of data; the information systems themselves; and the culture that drives the demand for, and use of data."
Data localisation	The practice of keeping data within the region it originated from. This means that companies must store and process data within the same jurisdiction as the user who is the source of that data. ⁴
Data sovereignty	The principle that data is subject to the laws and governance structures of the country in which it is collected or stored. ⁵
Digital divide	"At a high level, the digital divide is the gap between those with Internet access and those without it. But the digital divide is multifaceted and includes many factors such as access, affordability, quality, and relevance."
Digital governance	The principles, standards, plans, strategies, policies, laws, regulations and guidance relating to the deployment of infrastructure and technologies to enhance the production and use of data.
Digital transformation	Digital transformation involves the deployment of infrastructure and technologies to enhance the production and use of data including: enabling environments, policy and regulation; digital infrastructure; digital skills and human capacity; and digital innovation and entrepreneurship. It embraces critical sectors: industry, trade and financial services; government; health; education; and agriculture. It covers cross-cutting themes: content and applications; ID; emerging

	technologies; cybersecurity; and privacy and personal data protection. ⁷
Fourth Industrial Revolution	The Fourth Industrial Revolution is a term coined by the World Economic Forum. It "represents a fundamental change in the way we live, work and relate to one another. It is a new chapter in human development, enabled by extraordinary technology advances."8
Leapfrogging	"Leapfrogging occurs when a nation bypasses traditional stages of development to either jump directly to the latest technologiesor explore an alternative path of technological development involving emerging technologies with new benefits and new opportunities."
Sovereign cloud	"A cloud computing environment that stores each organization's data (including metadata) on servers located within their local country. This means data is stored in compliance with local laws and is protected from foreign access."
Techno-optimism	The belief that "that there is no material problem – whether created by nature or by technology – that cannot be solved with more technology." ¹¹

Overview

This paper discusses and compares the <u>UN's Global Digital Compact</u> (GDC) and the <u>African Digital Compact</u> (ADC). It examines whether the GDC's ambitions are realistically achievable, and how infrastructure and technologies can be effectively managed to enhance the production and use of data.

Following an extensive literature review, the paper quotes freely from a range of sources to build its arguments. It looks at the relationship between data and digital governance, and the extent to which technology can enable digital transformation in developing countries. It looks at how (and if) Big Tech fits into a multi-stakeholder consensus on digital and data governance. Finally, it asks if a single global authority – the UN – can solve problems rooted in political and economic inequity.

The paper advocates for the establishment of a set of universal data principles to complement digital governance. It finds that some solutions to digital transformation are not universal, which poses a challenge to the aim of the GDC to close digital divides. A challenge lies also in how to resolve the differences between those seeking data sovereignty and those who advocate for cross-border data flows.

The research conducted for this paper confirms DI's existing belief that digital transformation should be led from the bottom-up, at subnational, national and regional levels.

A comprehensive reading list accompanies the paper – to read further on this area, see the <u>Bibliography</u>.

This is the fourth in a series of papers Development Initiatives (DI) has produced about data governance. To explore more of our work in this area, see:

- Is the SDG monitoring framework broken?
- Data disharmony: How can donors better act on their commitments?
- The data side of leaving no one behind

Summary

In 2021, the UN Secretary-General released a report called 'Our Common Agenda'. It proposed a Global Digital Compact that outlines the shared principles for an open, free and secure digital future for all.

In September 2024, world leaders will gather in New York for the Summit of the Future.¹² The Summit is expected to adopt a *Pact for the Future*¹³ that places UN-led multilateral solutions,¹⁴ including on global digital cooperation, into a Global Digital Compact (GDC) built around the transformational potential of technology.¹⁵

"Digital and emerging technologies, including artificial intelligence, play a significant role as enablers of sustainable development and are dramatically changing our world. They offer huge potential for progress for the benefit of people and planet today and in the future. We are determined to realize this potential and manage the risks through enhanced international cooperation by promoting an inclusive, responsible and sustainable digital future." ¹⁶

In July 2024, a week after the second revision of the GDC draft was released, the African Union (AU) Executive Council adopted its own African Digital Compact (ADC).¹⁷ It is aligned to yet distinctly different from the GDC.

The GDC lays out five objectives.

- 1. Close all digital divides and accelerate progress across the Sustainable Development Goals
- 2. Expand inclusion in and benefits from the digital economy for all.
- 3. Foster an inclusive, open, safe and secure digital space that respects, protects, and promotes human rights.
- 4. Advance equitable and interoperable data governance.
- Enhance international governance of artificial intelligence (AI) for the benefit of humanity.

On the surface there would appear little to disagree with in the well-intended aspirations of these objectives. But the GDC calls for commitments and actions. It is reasonable therefore to question whether its ambitions are realistically achievable.

There is universal agreement that both data and technology need better regulation. Data governance is about the use and abuse of data. Digital governance is about the deployment of infrastructure and technologies to enhance the production and use of data. This paper focuses on how these two critical issues can most effectively be managed.

We pose four questions:

- 1. What is the relationship between digital and data governance?
- 2. Can technology alone enable digital transformation in developing countries? What are the prerequisites for digital transformation in developing countries beyond technology?
- 3. Are digital technology companies and social media platforms (Big Tech) ready to abide by a global multistakeholder consensus such as the GDC?
- 4. Can a single global authority solve problems rooted in political and economic inequity?

There is a fifth question that requires further discussion. It is not clear how the GDC will overcome the financing challenges that the SDGs face. The role of regional bodies in its implementation is also not well articulated. Are there, therefore, adequate implementation and financing modalities/arrangements for the GDC?

We find that:

- There are parallel strands of work taking place within the UN on digital and data governance that the GDC seeks to merge. Strong arguments exist for first establishing a universal set of data principles that complement digital governance.
- There is a wide gap in the appropriate solutions and different approaches to achieve digital transformation between high- and low-income countries. Leapfrogging technologies, as proposed by proponents of the Fourth Industrial Revolution (4IR), are not universally applicable, particularly when the infrastructures, capacity and usable data are not available.
- There are unresolvable differences between those who advocate for the free flow of data across borders, and an increasing number of governments seeking data sovereignty.
- In its enthusiasm to involve the private sector, the GDC assumes a levelled playing field and overlooks the real intentions of Big Tech to control markets and exploit data.

It is therefore our view that:

- The GDC should in the first instance limit itself to developing a sustainable set of universal guiding principles and standards of digital governance. Ideally, these should be preceded by agreement on the principles of data governance.
- Digital transformation and regulation are best delivered through regional and national initiatives.

This paper makes few claims to uniqueness. It is based largely on a literature review of over 500 documents, 18 the vast majority of which have been published within the last five years.

At the outset of this research the authors were already of the view, based on our previous work, ¹⁹ that, when it comes to digital transformation and data for development, bottom-up processes (subnational to national to regional and then global) invariably work better than top-down global initiatives. In our view, these assumptions have been backed up in the

literature by a diverse range of institutions and individuals. We have, wherever possible, used the voices of others better qualified than ourselves to substantiate our arguments. We acknowledge and have quoted, among others, the opinions of Abeba Birhane, Alison Gillwald and Research ICT Africa, Anu Bradford, Shoshana Zuboff, Steve MacFeely, Tim Unwin. Their selective use and context in which we have placed them is our responsibility.

What is the relationship between digital and data governance?

In July 2018, the United Nations Secretary-General (UNSG) convened a High-Level Panel on Digital Cooperation.²⁰ In 2019, the Panel delivered a report, *The Age of Digital Interdependence*. It recommended that "as a matter of urgency, the UN Secretary-General facilitate an agile and open consultation process to develop updated mechanisms for global digital cooperation."²¹ Consultations on this report led in 2020 to the *Roadmap for Digital Cooperation*.²² It recommended that the well-established Internet Governance Forum (IGF)²³ be revamped by:

"Creating a strategic and empowered multistakeholder high-level body, building on the experience of the existing multi-stakeholder advisory group, which would address urgent issues, coordinate follow-up action on Forum discussions and relay proposed policy approaches and recommendations from the Forum to the appropriate normative and decision-making forums."²⁴

The following year the UNSG, planning for the *Summit of the Future*, launched *Our Common Agenda*²⁵ which again called for the reform of the IGF and:

"building on the recommendations of the roadmap for digital cooperation, the United Nations, Governments, the private sector and civil society could come together as a multi-stakeholder digital technology track in preparation for a Summit of the Future to agree on a Global Digital Compact. This would outline shared principles for an open, free and secure digital future for all."

To this end, the UNSG appointed an Envoy on Technology²⁷ to lead the work on the GDC. Initial consultations, involving over 400 submissions from governments, international organisations, NGOs, the private sector and individuals, were held between June 2022 and April 2023. A policy brief was published in May 2023²⁸, followed by a Zero Draft in April 2024.²⁹ The current, third revision, was released in July 2024.³⁰

During the same period, in another part of the UN system, a parallel track of work was taking place. In 2020 Steve MacFeely,³¹ then Head of Statistics and Information at UNCTAD, published a paper³² in which he called for a "New Global Data Deal for safely

accessing and using data". UNCTAD's *Digital Economy Report 2021* focused on cross-border data flows and concluded that:

"global governance of data, as well as the digital economy and digital technologies, is clearly needed because of their global reach and implications on global development."33

Based on the thinking already done by McFeeley and others³⁴ and in preparation for its *2021 World Development Report*,³⁵ the World Bank invited the Committee for the Coordination of Statistical Activities (CCSA)³⁶ to contribute a sub-chapter. It resulted in a concluding section arguing that:

"A global consensus is needed to ensure that data are safeguarded as a global public good and as a resource to achieve equitable and sustainable development."³⁷

The UN High-Level Committee on Programmes (HLCP)³⁸ followed the work of the CCSA. The HLCP invited the Committee of the Chief Statisticians of the UN (CCS-UN)³⁹ to lead a working group on international data governance. The working group was to take into account the emerging work on the GDC. This resulted in a confidential *Concept note on a UN system paper on international data governance*. ⁴⁰ To share this work more broadly a paper was published by CCS-UN members which observed that:

"Many steps and challenges lie ahead, both foreseen and unforeseen. A few of the foreseen challenges are worthy of note, not least defining the scope and many elements that would comprise a Global *Data* Compact, setting out the principles that would form the backbone of such a compact and creating both the positive and negative incentives that would encourage all the different stakeholders to adhere to best practice international data governance."

Observing in September 2022 that "work at the UN to begin preparing a GDC is in its infancy", the paper argued strongly in favour of an initial focus on data principles:

"These principles will build on existing international norms and principles, balance different rights of stakeholders and integrate ontologies and standards that promote innovations in creative, trustworthy and ethical re-uses of data while safeguarding against harmful misuse. These principles must encompass important dimensions of quality, governance, equality of access, privacy, data protection, copyright and property rights, personal and non-personal data,

human and non-human data, public and private sector data, data sharing, data ownership, data reuse and recursive data."⁴²

The HLCP finally published its working group's findings in August 2023. Despite the GDC now being at the top of the UN's agenda the paper maintained that:

"The current development of the Global Digital Compact and the Summit of the Future represents a great opportunity that Member States could grasp to advance the agenda for global data governance."

In other words, the statistical community continue to see data governance as an issue that cannot merely be consumed within digital governance. In the words of one chief statistician, data is the foundation of all things digital so an agreement on data governance needs to precede any digital compact.⁴⁴ As digital governance only exists to provide the infrastructure and technology required for data ecosystems, it makes sense to seek consensus on data governance first.

Can technology alone enable digital transformation in developing countries?

The GDC opens:

"Digital technologies are dramatically transforming our world."

It aims to close all digital divides and include all in the digital economy. It calls for international, regional and national efforts to develop 'enabling environments' for digital transformation. These ambitious claims require some inspection.

Does digital transformation mean the same thing to everyone? According to the OECD:

"The current phase of the transformation is fuelled by a confluence of technologies, including artificial intelligence (AI), 5G, the Internet of Things (IoT), cloud computing, data analytics, virtual reality and other immersive technologies."

And here is the World Bank's view of Africa:

"Sub-Saharan Africa faces critical challenges for digital development, including underdeveloped digital infrastructure, lack of accessible and affordable connectivity, a stubborn digital gender gap, limited skills for digitally enabled industries, and inadequate regulatory and policy environments."

Are these two summaries referring to the same phenomenon?

In 2016 Klaus Schwab, founder and executive chairman of the World Economic Forum (WEF) wrote a book, *The Fourth Industrial Revolution*.⁴⁷ In the introduction he explains that:

"technology and digitization will revolutionize everything, making the overused and often ill-used adage 'this time is different' apt. Simply put, major technological innovations are on the brink of fuelling momentous change throughout the world – inevitably so."

In 2022, the UNDP in Nairobi launched its Playbook on the 4IR:

"to guide Africa's leadership in a rapidly evolving era driven by technologies and kickstart the process of Africa leading the global transformation in the way we live, work, produce and consume." 48

Can Africa lead such a global transformation? Is this techno-optimism justified? The South African Government established an Affiliate Centre of the WEF's Centre for the Fourth Industrial Revolution Network.⁴⁹ Referring to the South African Government's role, Alison Gillwald, executive director of Research ICT Africa (RIA) commented:

"The adoption by South Africa of 4IR models and policy designed by WEF partner consultants is based on a number of assumptions that don't apply to developing countries. These include mature, competitive markets and functioning democracies, capable institutions and educated and healthy populations. As a result, the proposed policies are unlikely to contribute to economic growth, job creation and the empowerment of women." ⁵⁰

The AU's AI strategy adds to this reality check, nothing that:

"there is a significant gap in the quality, inclusiveness and availability of data for AI models in Africa. Most data from the public and private sectors remain inaccessible. Public and private organisations often do not have sufficient infrastructure, resources, and data-management protocols in place to collect data and make it accessible for accelerating AI uptake."⁵¹

Technology has transformed the world on many occasions throughout history. These transformations have invariably led to inequities which have been the root cause of economic inequality for centuries. The digital revolution is no different and there is nothing intrinsically new in the digital divide between rich and poor countries and communities. What is new is the idea that technology itself can level the playing field.

Tim Unwin gives this idea short shrift:

"The so-called 4IR is just a construct developed by those promoting a heroic vision of technological scientism, and it ignores the argument that the current rapid expansion of digital tech is merely a product of the existing logic of capitalism."⁵²

Improving technology infrastructures for all is the argument made for bridging this divide. It is not that simple. RIA were commissioned by South Africa's National Planning Commission to review the country's readiness for the 4IR. In its report, it introduced what it called the 'digital inequality paradox':

"Paradoxically, as more people are connected, digital inequality is increasing. This is not only the case between those online and those offline...but also between those who have the technical and financial resources to use the Internet optimally and those who are barely online. The latter includes those who only have partial access to poor-quality or expensive data services that do not permit them to be 'always on' or to use data-intensive services. The gap is widening between those who passively consume a limited number of basic services and those able to put technology to full, productive use, some even to enhance their prosperity."53

RIA, in a concept note for a research programme on data justice in relation to AI, raises further questions on technology's capacity to create a level playing field:

"Current work on data justice highlights that, while data-driven technologies could be harnessed to support Africa's development, at present, they often serve to further undermine the continent's geopolitical position and harm its people. Data-related practices reinforce historical imperialist processes, including resource extraction, the imposition of Western values, the misrepresentation of African people and particularly those at the intersections of multiple inequalities, and the misappropriation of indigenous knowledge systems." ⁵⁴

This is not to deny the critical role of technology, only to be clear on the challenges. As argued by Tim Unwin:

"the most important issue is how to achieve equity in the impact of digital tech, so that rather than increasing inequalities digital tech can be appropriately used by the poorest and most marginalised to enhance their lives." ⁵⁵

"Africa's digital transformation journey, aimed at socio-economic growth and inclusivity, encounters several hurdles, including the digital divide, cybersecurity threats, automation's impact on jobs, data sovereignty and privacy, reliance on foreign technology, skills gap, regulatory barriers, and socio-cultural effects. Solutions involve comprehensive strategies: bolstering digital infrastructure, enhancing cybersecurity measures, fostering digital literacy, implementing robust data protection laws, nurturing local technology ecosystems, modernizing regulatory frameworks, and deeply engaging community stakeholders." 56

The idea that technological innovation and big data are the solution to low-income countries' data problems is currently gaining currency in many development circles. As we have argued before, 57 this is a dangerous concept, and this leapfrogging is unrealistic. Local facilities need input devices to capture data. These devices need to be charged and have access to the internet. School teachers and nurses need skills in basic data literacy. The data ecosystem needs solid foundations and in many countries these are still being built. The data captured in a child's birth registration, a patient's health record and a pupil's progress through school is the kind of input needed for machine learning to develop useful algorithms. In low-income countries, this data does not exist in sufficient quantity or quality to be of any use. Yet every month a new data science challenge is launched by donors who appear not to grasp the fact that the data needed for AI to work comes from the very systems that proponents of AI wants to replace.

Is Big Tech ready to cooperate in a global multi-stakeholder consensus?

Central to the argument for the GDC's call for "inclusion in and benefits from the digital economy for all" is the need for data to flow freely across borders. The antithesis of this is the measures taken by several African and Asian countries that have adopted 'localisation' policies. These policies insist that nationally sensitive data, including personal data, should be stored on national servers in national data centres.

The AU Data Policy Framework, for example, recommends that:

"Member States should prioritise politically neutral partnerships that take into account their individual sovereignty and national ownership to avoid foreign interferences which may negatively affect the national security, economic interests and digital developments of AU Member States.

AU Member States have the right to formulate digital and data rules in line with their priorities and interests, notably to protect the information security of the state and its citizens and to prevent third parties from unfairly exploiting resources and local markets."58

A 2022 OECD study revealed that:

"data localisation is on the rise. By 2021, there were a total of 92 data localisation measures in place across 39 countries. More than half of these have emerged over the last five years. Importantly, the measures themselves are becoming more restrictive; by 2021, two-thirds of measures in place involved a storage requirement with a flow prohibition (often implemented by non-OECD countries)." 59

There is some recognition from Big Tech that localisation is here to stay. Microsoft has invested in data centres in Egypt, Kenya, Morocco, Nigeria and South Africa.⁶⁰ Amazon Web Services and Google also have 'cloud regions' based in South Africa.⁶¹ In total there are currently 119 data centres operational in 22 African countries.⁶² Sovereign clouds,

either physically located within the client country or located in foreign data centres fully under national control, are on the agenda for all the big data storage providers.

In January 2019 Shinzo Abe, then Prime Minister of Japan, addressed the WEF in Dayos:

"We must, on one hand, be able to put our personal data and data embodying intellectual property, national security intelligence, and so on, under careful protection, while on the other hand, we must enable the free flow of medical, industrial, traffic and other most useful, non-personal, anonymous data to see no borders, repeat, no borders. The regime we must build is one for D.F.F.T., Data Free Flow with Trust."63

Data Free Flow with Trust was adopted by the G20 in 2019 and the G7 in 2021. The OECD now plays a leading role in attempts to operationalise the concept.

Its problem statement has been outlined by the WEF:

"Many countries are putting forward regulations to constrain data flow in order to deal with the challenges of privacy, national security and intellectual property, or for economic reasons such as protecting domestic jobs. Such restrictions, even if well-intentioned, can lead to regulatory fragmentation and challenges for business, especially when combined with data localization requirements. If undermined, this could ultimately weaken global trade flows and limit the societal benefits for all. Unfortunately, the current fragmented approach has stalled (or even potentially set back) policy efforts to implement frameworks for cross-border data flows."⁶⁴

The solution, according to the OECD, is:

"an integrated policy approach, both domestically and internationally, to build trust. Governments and regulators, including privacy regulators but also sectoral regulators, need to co-operate across silos, borders and at different levels simultaneously to support companies in their efforts to build trust and multi-jurisdictional compliance." 65

Yet in the preceding paragraph the authors note that:

"businesses report that they are struggling to comply with an increasing number of obligations required of them as the natural corollary of such development of data protection laws globally. In other words, the challenge does not lie with the existence of data protection laws as such, which are a critical element of trust. But the constraints attached to the cumulation of multiple compliance obligations, even when stemming from comparable or even identical principles, can be such as to undermine the very purpose that each regulation intends to serve." 66

Taking this into account, we need to question what the GDC thinks it can achieve by pledging that:

"We will identify innovative, interoperable and inclusive mechanisms to enable data to flow with trust within and between countries to mutual benefit, while respecting relevant data protection and privacy safeguards and applicable legal frameworks." 67

Again, the ADC takes a more nuanced approach, promoting:

"regional integration and cooperation to facilitate the cross-border flow of digital services and harmonize digital policies, enhancing the continent's competitiveness in the global digital economy" 68

While key actors in the private sector such as Meta⁶⁹ are careful not to be seen to oppose the GDC,⁷⁰ their real intentions can be found elsewhere. The Washington DC-based Information Technology Industry Council is, in its own words, "the premier global advocate for technology, representing the world's most innovative companies."⁷¹ Its members include Amazon, Apple, Google, Meta and Microsoft, as well as more than 60 other multinational technology companies.⁷²

The Information Technology Industry Council and its abovementioned members fund the Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, "the world's leading think tank for science and technology policy."⁷³ Here is its advice to the US government in June 2024:

"The United States can no longer afford to support nations whose actions are against U.S. techno-economic interests ... This would mean no more aid to countries ... that impose data localization or other digital protectionist tools"⁷⁴

Such arm wrestling is where the real debate lies. Public governance needs the support of the private sector, and the private sector cannot be seen to disrespect multilateral processes. Yet there is a cavernous divide between the well-intentioned aspirations of the GDC and the legal responsibilities of Big Tech to maximise profits to their shareholders.

The words of three of the intellectual giants of the digital age are sufficient evidence to situate why, with the best will in the world, a technical solution proposed by the UN is doomed to failure.

Shoshana Zuboff⁷⁵ has compiled evidence of how Big Tech "claims human experience as free raw material for translation into behavioural data":⁷⁶

"The abdication of the world's information spaces to surveillance capitalism has become the meta-crisis of every republic because it obstructs solutions to all other crises. The surveillance capitalist giants–Google, Apple, Facebook, Amazon, Microsoft, and their ecosystems–now constitute a sweeping political-economic institutional order that exerts oligopolistic^[77] control over most digital information and communication spaces, systems, and processes."⁷⁸

Abeba Birhane⁷⁹ reminds us why the concept of data colonialism is an essential tool for us to understand digital power dynamics:

"Traditional colonialism seeks unilateral power and domination over colonized people. It declares control of the social, economic, and political sphere by reordering and reinventing social order in a manner that benefits it. In the age of algorithms, this control and domination occurs not through brute physical force, but rather through invisible and nuanced mechanisms, for example, control of digital ecosystems and infrastructure. Common to both traditional and algorithmic colonialism is the desire to dominate, monitor, and influence social, political, and cultural discourse through the control of core communication and infrastructure mediums. While traditional colonialism is often spearheaded by political and government forces, digital colonialism is driven by corporate tech monopolies—both of which are in search of wealth accumulation."80

And Tim Unwin⁸¹ casts his eye on how the UN itself has succumbed to the influence of Big Tech:

"The last 25 years have seen the gradual permeation (or subversion) of international discourse within the UN system by global capital. This is nowhere clearer than in discussions and practices around the role of digital tech within international development.

This is not to say that the private sector cannot contribute hugely to international development, and that close relationships between governments and the private sector are not essential for the development of wise policies and practices especially relating to the creation and use of digital tech. However, it is to argue that the balance of power and influence has shifted far too far towards the tech companies and global corporations, whose fundamental interest is to make profits for their owners, staff and shareholders."82

Can a single global authority solve problems rooted in political and economic inequity?

Underpinning the GDC is the assumption that the UN has the authority to lead and deliver on a programme no less complex than world peace and climate change.

The GDC mentions 'human rights' 31 times and states with some confidence that:

"We will establish and maintain robust risk mitigation and redress measures that also protect privacy and freedom of expression."83

Is this possible when the United States, China and the European Union are actively competing for global influence with fundamentally different approaches to both privacy and AI regulation? Professor Anu Bradford⁸⁴ sets out the differences between these "digital empires":

"As the world's leading technological, economic, and regulatory powers, they are "digital empires": each not only regulating its domestic markets but also exporting its regulatory model and aiming to shape the global digital order in its own interests. Some governments may align their regulatory stance with the American market-driven approach, opting for light-touch regulation; others may side with the EU's rights-driven approach, pursuing binding legislation that sets constraints on Al development; and some authoritarian countries will look to China, emulating its state-focused regulatory model."

In launching the *United States International Cyberspace & Digital Policy Strategy,* for example, Secretary of State Anthony Blinken said "The US wants to make sure allies do not rely on Chinese-built undersea cables, data storage, or cloud computing. It is critical we work with trusted vendors and exclude untrustworthy ones from the ecosystem." The US Chamber of Commerce, responding to the European Union (EU) Data Act, called on the EU to:

"amend its approach to regulating data in the digital economy and move instead toward a model that prioritizes contractual freedom, voluntary data sharing, and the principle of non-discrimination." 87

Anu Bradford concludes:

"Given the obvious benefits of international coordination, several attempts to develop global standards or methods of cooperation are already underway within institutions such as the OECD, the G20, the G7, the Council of Europe, and the United Nations. Yet it is reasonable to worry that these efforts will have only a limited impact. Given the differences in values, interests, and capabilities among states, it will be difficult to reach any meaningful consensus."

Opposition to the GDC has also come from international organisations already tasked with aspects of global digital governance. In an open letter to the UNSG and the Envoy on Technology, current and past leaders of the Internet Engineering Task Force and World Wide Web Consortium highlight the "fundamentally distributed" nature of the internet:

"We note that the GDC is being developed in a multilateral process between states, with very limited application of the open, inclusive and consensus-driven methods by which the Internet and Web have been developed to date. Beyond some high-level consultations, non-government stakeholders (including internet technical standards bodies and the broader technical community) have had only weak ways to participate in the GDC process. We are concerned that the document will be largely a creation only of governments, disconnected from the Internet and the Web as people all over the world currently experience them."

Concerns that the GDC undermines the mandate⁹⁰ of the IGF to facilitate the development of internet-related policy have been raised by several organisations. These include the EU:

"Given its place as the premier independent forum for multistakeholder input, the EU supports the Internet Governance Forum (IGF) and its potential to grow into an always more incisive, inclusive, and sustainable model. The EU also supports the IGF provision of multistakeholder input into the Global Digital Compact."

...the US:

"The United States strongly supports the IGF as the preeminent global body bringing together all stakeholders through a bottom-up process to discuss rights-respecting solutions to Internet public policy issues. The Global Digital Compact can support the continued improvement of the IGF to further strengthen its impact as a global, multistakeholder platform." 92

...and the IGF itself:

"The Leadership Panel supports the Internet Governance Forum and its global, national and regional initiatives as vital fora for multistakeholder debate and policy discussions that can inform policy development across the world. The Global Digital Compact should reaffirm the definition of multistakeholder internet governance as agreed in the Tunis Agenda as well as reaffirm the importance of the Internet Governance Forum. At the same time, the Global Digital Compact should not touch upon the mandate of the Internet Governance Forum."

Similarly, leadership of three leading domain name space providers, ICANN, APNIC and ARIN,⁹⁴ published a joint article noting that the technical community is being sidelined:

"The U.N. Tech Envoy...suggests that there is a new "tripartite" model for digital cooperation, in which there are only three stakeholder groups – the private sector, governments, and civil society (which includes the technical community). In other words, this model excludes the technical community as a distinct component, and overlooks the unique and essential roles played by that community's members separately and collectively."95

An achievable roadmap?

Global principles

In June 1991, European statisticians gathered in Geneva against the backdrop of a changed Europe. The Soviet hammer and sickle flag was soon to be lowered in Moscow for the last time and the planned economies of Eastern Europe were starting to engage with the market economies of the West. Statisticians from the east sought "a road map, a beacon to guide the countries' statistical offices during a time of immense change."96 Thus were born the Fundamental Principles of Official Statistics, adopted by the United Nations Statistical Commission in 1994.97 With the exception of a revised preamble, they remain as valid today as they were 30 years ago.

The global focus on the importance of data began 10 years ago with the UN's recognition of a data revolution. This was acknowledged in the UNSG's publication of *A World That Counts*. Its first key recommendation was:

"We propose that the UN establish a process whereby key stakeholders create a "Global Consensus on Data", to adopt principles concerning legal, technical, privacy, geospatial and statistical standards which, among other things, will facilitate openness and information exchange and promote and protect human rights."98

The GDC, with the best of intentions, has impatiently bitten off more than it can chew. Surely a more realistic first step would be to develop a set of principles and standards that could create the foundations of a consensus to drive this agenda through. The UNSG is Chair of the UN System Chief Executives Board for Coordination. In this role, the UNSG is surely aware of its role in mandating the CCS-UN to develop data governance standards. Should this not be the GDC's first port of call?

Drafting principles that can stand the test of time is no easy task, as recognised by the CCS-UN.⁹⁹ As they currently stand, the GDC principles tend towards a bland and generic statement of the obvious. Further drafting will be necessary for them to stand out as the cornerstone of this compact. Comparison with the ADC is instructive.

The GDC presents the benefits of technology and the importance of rights as parallel concepts. The ADC proposes that:

"technological advancements are *harmonized* with the fundamental rights and dignity of its people" 100 (Italics are DI's emphasis.)

The GDC calls on targeted efforts to the least developed countries. The ADC makes a more dignified call for solidarity, advocating for:

"collective efforts and the sharing of resources, expertise, and best practices to address the challenges and opportunities presented by digital technologies." ¹⁰¹

The GDC recognises that all institutions, including regional organisations, have roles and responsibilities. The ADC is more focused, emphasising:

"the importance of regional and international collaboration to harness collective expertise, resources, and experiences for digital growth." ¹⁰²

In addition, the ADC includes the principle of "respect for sovereignty and territorial integrity". This principle underscores:

"the right of states to govern their cyberspace without external interference, ensuring the respect for their digital borders in the same manner as their physical borders." ¹⁰³

Reflecting the importance of this issue, it furthermore "recognises that:

"the principle of non-intervention is critical in ensuring that states do not use ICTs to interfere in the internal affairs of other states." 104

Regional leadership

The GDC recognises the need for investment and capacity building to support regional and national initiatives but pays scant attention to what is already happening.

The Association of Southeast Asian Nations has decided to sidestep alignment with one of the "Digital empires". 105 It is on course to deliver its own Digital Economy Framework Agreement by the end of 2024, with an emphasis on encouraging regional trade. 106

Charles Kenny¹⁰⁷ reflects on the same potential for Africa:

"Hopefully the growing role that regional bodies like the African Union are playing in coordinating and harmonizing rules around cross-border data will help the region both better exploit the data it has and build up regional capacities in data storage and manipulation. And as participants made clear,

this isn't something that has to wait on better global data governance: the African market is quite big enough by itself." 108

The UN's Global Pulse Lab in Uganda, commenting on the EU's hard sell¹⁰⁹ of General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR), cautioned that:

"Despite its strengths, concerns persist regarding the GDPR's complexity and the substantial costs associated with compliance." 110

In fact, at least 29 African countries have data protection legislation in place.¹¹¹ And the AU established a Convention on Cyber Security and Personal Data Protection back in 2014. This is currently being revised through the Malabo Roadmap that aims:

"to inform continental discussions among a diverse set of stakeholders on the advancement of international law instruments regulating cybercrimes and data protection in Africa."¹¹²

The exploitation and regulation of AI has also required a regional approach. Timcke and Hlomani from RIA have argued that:

"African nations and regional bodies need to organise effectively to represent shared interests and priorities in international AI policymaking arenas.

Continental regulatory harmonisation and global policy engagement are complementary efforts for Africa to enact ethical, rights-protecting AI systems while also shaping AI governance to be more equitable worldwide. By linking arms regionally and raising voices globally, African stakeholders can pursue AI governance that advances both local and global equality." 113

Africa has consistently taken responsibility for the data and digital challenges it faces: through the African Charter on Statistics (2009), Strategy for the Harmonisation of Statistics in Africa (2017), Digital Transformation Strategy for Africa (2020), AU Data Policy Framework (2022). Most recently, in June 2024, African ICT and Communications Ministers unanimously endorsed the Continental Artificial Intelligence (AI) Strategy¹¹⁴

"seeks to unify Africa's digital transformation efforts, ensuring they align with global standards while addressing the continent's unique challenges and opportunities." 116

The use of the word 'align' (used over 100 times in the document) is instructive. The ADC stresses throughout the importance of international cooperation:

"a resolute commitment to harmonizing the African digital landscape with global imperatives. Emphasizing connectivity, cooperation, human rights, inclusivity, security, data sovereignty, and the governance of emerging technologies, it lays the cornerstone for a digital Africa poised for transformation." ¹¹⁷

The GDC is thus seen, similarly to the IGF, as a facilitating, coordinating mechanism through which national and regional institutions can receive guidance and share lessons. The ADC pointedly calls for advocacy:

"for fair and significant representation of African nations in international digital governance forums, ensuring that Africa's voice is heard, and its digital policy challenges and recommendations are included." 118

The GDC should recognise that the sustainable solutions to digital transformation and regulation lie in these individual journeys that regional bodies are taking. These journeys are far from complete and will without doubt be enhanced by international learning and cooperation. But the national and regional objectives they seek are much more realistic than well-intentioned global aspirations, such as the objectives of Africa's digital transformation to:

"harness digital technologies and innovation to transform African societies and economies to promote Africa's integration, generate inclusive economic growth, stimulate job creation, break the digital divide, and eradicate poverty for the continent's socio-economic development and ensure Africa's ownership of modern tools of digital management." 119

Selected bibliography

Global digital governance

United Nations. (2019). The Age of Digital Interdependence: Report of The UN Secretary-General's High-Level Panel on Digital Cooperation.

https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/3865925?ln=en&v=pdf (accessed 18 September 2024)

United Nations. (2020). Roadmap for Digital Cooperation: Report of The Secretary-General. https://www.un.org/en/content/digital-cooperation-roadmap/ (accessed 18 September 2024)

UN Secretary General. (2021). *Our Common Agenda: Report of the Secretary-General.* https://www.un.org/en/content/common-agenda-report/ (accessed 18 September 2024)

United Nations. (2023). A Global Digital Compact – an Open, Free and Secure Digital Future for All: Our Common Agenda Policy Brief 5.

https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/our-common-agenda-policy-brief-gobal-digicompact-en.pdf (accessed 18 September 2024)

United Nations. (2024). *Pact for the Future (Second Revision)*. https://www.un.org/en/summit-of-the-future/pact-for-the-future-revisions (accessed 18 September 2024)

United Nations. (2024). *Global Digital Compact (Third Revision – Draft Under Silence Procedure)*. 2024. https://www.un.org/techenvoy/global-digital-compact (accessed 18 September 2024)

Global data governance

United Nations Data Revolution Group. (2014). A World That Counts: Mobilising The Data Revolution for Sustainable Development.

https://www.undatarevolution.org/report/ (accessed 18 September 2024)

MacFeely, S. (2020). In Search of the Data Revolution: Has the Official Statistics Paradigm Shifted? Statistical Journal of the IAOS 36: 1075–94. https://doi.org/10.3233/SJI-200662 (accessed 18 September 2024)

UN Committee for the Coordination of Statistical Activities. (2020). *A Call for a Global Data Convention*. UN (blog) 20 October 2020.

https://worldstatisticsday.org/2020/blog/Global-Data-Convention.html (accessed 18 September 2024)

MacFeely, S., Fu, H., Schweinfest, S. and Me, A. (2020). We Urgently Need a Global Data Convention. Here's Why. World Economic Forum (blog), 13 November 2020. https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/11/global-data-convention (accessed 18 September 2024)

UNCTAD. (2021). *Digital Economy Report 2021*. https://unctad.org/publication/digital-economy-report-2021 (accessed 18 September 2024)

World Bank. (2021). World Development Report 2021: Data for better lives. https://www.worldbank.org/en/publication/wdr2021 (accessed 18 September 2024)

MacFeely, S., Me, A., Fu, H., Veerappan, M., Hereward, M., Passarelli, D. and Schüür, F. (2022). *Towards an International Data Governance Framework*. Statistical Journal of the IAOS 38, no. 3 (13 September 2022): 703–10. https://doi.org/10.3233/SJI-220038 (accessed 18 September 2024)

UN CEB. (2023). *International Data Governance: Pathways to Progress*. UN Chief Executives Board for Coordination, 4 May 2023

https://unsceb.org/international-data-governance-pathways-progress#:~:text=In%20May%202023%2C%20the%20United,45th%20session%20in%20March%202023. (accessed 18 September 2024)

African data governance

African Union (2014). *Convention on Cyber-security and Personal Data Protection*. https://au.int/en/treaties/african-union-convention-cyber-security-and-personal-data-protection (accessed 18 September 2024)

African Union. (2020). *The Digital Transformation Strategy for Africa (2020–2030)*. https://au.int/en/documents/20200518/digital-transformation-strategy-africa-2020-2030 (accessed 18 September 2024)

African Union. (2022). *AU Data Policy Framework*. https://au.int/en/documents/20220728/au-data-policy-framework (accessed 18 September 2024)

African Union. (2022). The Malabo Roadmap: Approaches to Promote Data Protection and Data Governance in Africa.

https://dataprotection.africa/wp-content/uploads/malabo_roadmap_Sept_2022.pdf (accessed 18 September 2024)

African Union. (2024). *African Digital Compact*. https://au.int/en/documents/20240809/african-digital-compact-adc (accessed 18 September 2024)

African Union. (2024). *Continental Artificial Intelligence Strategy* https://au.int/en/documents/20240809/continental-artificial-intelligence-strategy (accessed 18 September 2024)

Free market arguments

Schwab, K. (2016). The Fourth Industrial Revolution. World Economic Forum

González, J. L., Casalini, F. and Porras, J. (2022). *A Preliminary Mapping of Data Localisation Measures*. Paris, OECD, 13 June 2022. https://doi.org/10.1787/c5ca3fed-en (accessed 18 September 2024)

World Economic Forum. (2023). Data Free Flow with Trust: Overcoming Barriers to Cross-Border Data Flows.

https://www.weforum.org/publications/data-free-flow-with-trust-overcoming-barriers-to-cross-border-data-flows/ (accessed 18 September 2024)

OECD. (2023). Moving Forward on Data Free Flow with Trust: New Evidence and Analysis of Business Experiences. Paris: OECD, 27 April 2023 https://doi.org/10.1787/1afab147-en (accessed 18 September 2024)

Atkinson, R. D., Castro, D., Coniglio, J. C., Ezell, S. (2024). *A Techno-Economic Agenda for the Next Administration*. ITIF, 10 June 2024 https://itif.org/publications/2024/06/10/a-techno-economic-agenda-for-the-next-administration/ (accessed 18 September 2024)

Critiques

Gillwald, A. (2019). South Africa Must Harness Technology in a Way That Helps Fix Its Problems. The Conversation (blog), 3 October 2019 http://theconversation.com/south-africa-must-harness-technology-in-a-way-that-helps-fix-its-problems-121191 (accessed 18 September 2024)

Unwin, T. (2019). Why the notion of a Fourth Industrial Revolution is so problematic. Tim Unwin's Blog (blog), 9 March 2019

https://unwin.wordpress.com/2019/03/09/why-the-notion-of-a-fourth-industrial-revolution-is-so-problematic/ (accessed 18 September 2024)

Zuboff, S. (2019). The Age of Surveillance Capitalism. The fight for a Human Future at the New Frontier of Power. New York: Hachette Book Group https://www.hachettebookgroup.com/titles/shoshana-zuboff/the-age-of-surveillance-capitalism/9781610395694/

Research ICT Africa. (2020). *Digital Futures: South Africa's Digital Readiness for the "Fourth Industrial Revolution"* https://researchictafrica.net/publication/digital-futures-south-africas-readiness-for-the-4ir/ (accessed 18 September 2024)

Kovacs, A. (2024). Concept Note: Embodied Data and Just AI – An Exploration of Key Questions. Research ICT Africa (blog), 5 April 2024.

https://researchictafrica.net/2024/04/05/concept-note-embodied-data-and-just-ai-an-exploration-of-key-questions/ (accessed 18 September 2024)

Unwin, Tim. (2023). *Reflections on the Global Digital Compact*. Tim Unwin's Blog (blog), 20 April 2023

https://unwin.wordpress.com/2023/04/20/reflections-on-the-global-digital-compact/ (accessed 18 September 2024)

Birhane, A. (2023). *Algorithmic Colonization of Africa*, in Stephen Cave, and Kanta Dihal (eds), *Imagining AI: How the World Sees Intelligent Machines* (Oxford, 2023, online edn, Oxford Academic, 22 June 2023) https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780192865366.003.0016 (accessed 18 September 2024)

Bradford, A. (2023). *Whose AI Revolution?* Project Syndicate, 1 September 2023 https://www.project-syndicate.org/onpoint/ai-regulation-us-eu-china-challenges-opportunities-by-anu-bradford-2023-09 (accessed 18 September 2024)

Kenny, C. (2024). When It Comes to Data, Local Safeguards and Global Hosting Don't Have to Conflict. Center For Global Development (blog), 5 March 2024 https://www.cgdev.org/blog/when-it-comes-data-local-safeguards-and-global-hosting-dont-have-conflict (accessed 18 September 2024)

Timcke, S. and Hlomani, H. (2024). *Decoding the Ballot: How Might AI Reshape Democracy on the African Continent?* Research ICT Africa. https://researchictafrica.net/2024/02/05/how-might-ai-reshape-democracy-on-the-african-continent/ (accessed 18 September 2024)

DI work

Anderson, B., Sabiti, B. and Wozniak, S. (2021). *The Data Side of Leaving No One Behind*. Development Initiatives. https://devinit.org/resources/data-side-leaving-no-one-behind/ (accessed 18 September 2024)

Anderson, B. and Sabiti, B. (2022). *Data Disharmony: How Can Donors Better Act on Their Commitments?* Development Initiatives. https://devinit.org/resources/data-disharmony-how-can-donors-better-act-on-their-commitments/ (accessed 18 September 2024)

Anderson, B. and Wozniak, S. (2023). *Is the SDG Monitoring Framework Broken?*Development Initiatives. https://devinit.org/resources/is-the-sdg-monitoring-framework-broken/ (accessed 18 September 2024)

Anderson, B. (2023). *Data Governance: Do All Global Problems Require Global Solutions?* Development Initiatives (blog) 31 October 2023. https://devinit.org/blog/data-governance-does-it-require-a-global-solution-/ (accessed 18 September 2024)

Research bibliography

https://www.zotero.org/groups/5619020/global_data_governance/items/6VKDXQIX/library

African data governance database

https://datagov.devinit.org/

Notes

¹ For more definitions on AI see: https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/uk-gdpr-quidance-and-resources/artificial-intelligence/explaining-decisions-made-with-artificial-intelligence/part-1-the-basics-of-explaining-ai/definitions/

https://www.zotero.org/groups/5619020/global_data_governance/items/6VKDXQIX/library

https://www.devinit.org/resources/data-disharmony-how-can-donors-better-act-on-their-commitments/; and Development Initiatives, 2023. Is the SDG monitoring framework broken? Available at: https://www.devinit.org/resources/is-the-sdg-monitoring-framework-broken/.

² Couldry, N. and Mejias, U. A. Data Grab: An Interview with Nick Couldry and Ulises A. Mejias on Their New Book. Media@LSE, [blog], 2 May 2024. https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/medialse/2024/05/02/data-grab-an-interview-with-nick-couldry-and-ulises-a-mejias-on-their-new-book/ (accessed 18 September 2024)

³ Development Initiatives, 2021. The data side of leaving no one behind. https://devinit.org/resources/data-side-leaving-no-one-behind/

⁴ Hardamon, C. Data Localization: Definition, Benefits, and Challenges. Riscosity [blog], 30 April 2024. https://www.riscosity.com/blog/data-localization (accessed 18 September 2024)

⁵ TechUK, 2024. Data Sovereignty: Implications for the UK Public Sector. https://www.techuk.org/resource/data-sovereignty-implications-for-uk-public-sector.html (accessed 18 September 2024)

⁶ Muller, C. and De Vasconcelos Aguiar, J. P. What is the Digital Divide? Internet Society [blog], 3 March 2022. https://www.internetsociety.org/blog/2022/03/what-is-the-digital-divide/ (accessed 18 September 2024)

⁷ African Union. The Digital Transformation Strategy for Africa (2020-2030) (2024). Page 6 https://au.int/en/documents/20200518/digital-transformation-strategy-africa-2020-2030.

⁸ For more information on the Fourth Industrial Revolution see: https://www.weforum.org/focus/fourth-industrial-revolution/

⁹ For more information on leapfrogging, see: https://www.csis.org/analysis/need-leapfrog-strategy

¹⁰ For more information on the sovereign cloud, see: https://www.opendatasoft.com/en/glossary/sovereign-cloud/

¹¹ Avle, S. and Hardy, J. What is 'techno-optimism'? 2 technology scholars explain the ideology that says technology is the answer to every problem. The Conversation (blog), 24 April 2024, https://theconversation.com/what-is-techno-optimism-2-technology-scholars-explain-the-ideology-that-says-technology-is-the-answer-to-every-problem-222668 (accessed 18 September 2024)

¹² United Nations. 'Summit of the Future Website'. United Nations. United Nations. https://www.un.org/en/summit-of-the-future (accessed 29 July 2024)

¹³ United Nations. Pact for the Future (Second Revision) (2024). Available at: https://www.un.org/en/summit-of-the-future-revisions.

¹⁴ United Nations. Pact for the Future (Second Revision) (2024). Available at: https://www.un.org/en/summit-of-the-future/pact-for-the-future-revisions. Paragraphs 5 and 6.

¹⁵ United Nations, 2024. Global Digital Compact. Available at: https://www.un.org/techenvoy/global-digital-compact

¹⁶ United Nations. Pact for the Future (Second Revision) (2024). Paragraph 50. Available at: https://www.un.org/en/summit-of-the-future/pact-for-the-future-revisions.

¹⁷ African Union. 'African Digital Compact', August 2024. https://au.int/en/documents/20240809/african-digital-compact-adc

¹⁸ The collection of documents can be found at:

¹⁹ See for example: Development Initiatives, 2021. The Data side of leaving no one behind. Available at: https://www.devinit.org/resources/data-side-leaving-no-one-behind/; Development Initiatives, 2022. Data disharmony: How can donors better act on their commitments? Available at: https://www.devinit.org/resources/data-disharmony-how-can-donors-better-act-on-their-commitments/; and

²⁰ United Nations. Secretary-General's High-Level Panel on Digital Cooperation. United Nations. United Nations. Accessed 31 July 2024. https://www.un.org/en/sg-digital-cooperation-panel.

- ²¹ United Nations, 2019. The age of digital interdependence: report of the UN Secretary-General's High-Level Panel on Digital Cooperation. Available at: https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/3865925?ln=en&v=pdf.
- ²² United Nations, 2020. Roadmap for Digital Cooperation: Report of The Secretary General'. Available at: https://www.un.org/en/content/digital-cooperation-roadmap/.
- ²³ United Nations Internet Governance Forum, https://www.intgovforum.org/en (accessed 29 July 2024). Furthermore, building on the recommendations of the road map for digital cooperation (see A/74/821), the United Nations, governments, the private sector and civil society could come together as a multi-stakeholder digital technology track in preparation for a Summit of the Future to agree on a Global Digital Compact. This would outline shared principles for an open, free and secure digital future for all.
- ²⁴ United Nations, 2020. Roadmap for Digital Cooperation: Report of The Secretary General'. Available at: https://www.un.org/en/content/digital-cooperation-roadmap/. Op. cit. Page 25.
- ²⁵ United Nations, 2021. Our Common Agenda. Report of the Secretary-General. Available at: https://www.un.org/en/content/common-agenda-report/.
- ²⁶ United Nations, 2021. Our Common Agenda. Report of the Secretary-General. Available at: https://www.un.org/en/content/common-agenda-report/. Paragraph 93.
- ²⁷ United Nations. Office of the Secretary-General's Envoy on Technology https://www.un.org/techenvoy/ (accessed 29 July 2024).
- ²⁸ United Nations, 2023. A Global Digital Compact an Open, Free and Secure Digital Future for All: Our Common Agenda Policy Brief 5', 24 May 2023. Available at: https://www.un-ilibrary.org/content/papers/10.18356/27082245-28 (accessed 18 September 2024)
- ²⁹ United Nations, 2024. Global Digital Compact (Zero Draft). Available at: https://www.un.org/techenvoy/global-digital-compact
- ³⁰ United Nations, 2024. Global Digital Compact (Third Revision Silence Procedure). Available at: https://www.un.org/techenvoy/global-digital-compact
- ³¹ This summary is based on a 2023 presentation made by Steve MacFeely. Towards a Global Data Governance Framework Keynote Address, 3rd Symposium on Artificial Intelligence for Industry, Science, and Society (Al2S2), 2023. Available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0f36mgCYg1E (accessed 18 September 2024).
- ³² MacFeely, S. In Search of the Data Revolution: Has the Official Statistics Paradigm Shifted? Statistical Journal of the IAOS 36 (2020): 1075–94. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3233/SJI-200662.
- ³³ UNCTAD, 2021. Digital Economy Report 2021. Available at: https://unctad.org/publication/digital-economy-report-2021. Page 176.
- ³⁴ See for example: UN Committee for the Coordination of Statistical Activities. (2020). A Call for a Global Data Convention. UN (blog) 20 October 2020. Available at: https://worldstatisticsday.org/2020/blog/Global-Data-Convention.html (accessed 18 September 2024); MacFeeley, S., Fu, H., Schweinfest, S., and Me, A. We Urgently Need a Global Data Convention. Here's Why. World Economic Forum (blog), 13 November 2020, https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/11/global-data-convention/ (accessed 18 September 2024).
- ³⁵ World Bank, 2021. World Development Report 2021: DATA FOR BETTER LIVES. Available at: https://www.worldbank.org/en/publication/wdr2021.
- ³⁶ UN Statistics Division. Committee for the Coordination of Statistical Activities. Accessed 29 July 2024. https://unstats.un.org/unsd/ccsa/.
- ³⁷ World Bank, 2021. World Development Report 2021: DATA FOR BETTER LIVES. Available at: https://www.worldbank.org/en/publication/wdr2021. Op. cit. Spotlight 8.1. Page 297.
- ³⁸ United Nations. High-Level Committee on Programmes (HLCP). Available at: https://unsceb.org/high-level-committee-programmes-hlcp (accessed 31 July 2024).
- ³⁹ UN Statistics Division. Committee of the Chief Statisticians of the United Nations System. https://unstats.un.org/unsd/unsystem/ (accessed 31 July 2024).
- ⁴⁰ MacFeely, S., Me, A., Fu, H., Veerappan, M., Hereward, M., Passarelli, D. and Schüür, F. Towards an International Data Governance Framework. Statistical Journal of the IAOS 38, no. 3 (13 September 2022): 703–10. https://doi.org/10.3233/SJI-220038.
- ⁴¹ MacFeely, S., Me, A., Fu, H., Veerappan, M., Hereward, M., Passarelli, D. and Schüür, F. Towards an International Data Governance Framework. Statistical Journal of the IAOS 38, no. 3 (13 September 2022): 703–10. https://doi.org/10.3233/SJI-220038.
- ⁴² MacFeely, S., Me, A., Fu, H., Veerappan, M., Hereward, M., Passarelli, D. and Schüür, F. Towards an International Data Governance Framework. Statistical Journal of the IAOS 38, no. 3 (13 September 2022): 703–10. https://doi.org/10.3233/SJI-220038.

- ⁴³ UN CEB, 2023. International Data Governance: Pathways to Progress. UN Chief Executives Board for Coordination. Available at: https://unsceb.org/international-data-governance-pathways-progress#:~:text=In%20May%202023%2C%20the%20United,45th%20session%20in%20March%202023.
- ⁴⁴ Private communication with a member of CCS-UN.
- ⁴⁵ OECD, 2024. The OECD's Contribution to Policies to Optimise the Digital Transformation: Meeting of the Council at Ministerial Level, 2–3 May 2024. Available at: https://one.oecd.org/document/C/MIN(2024)10/en/pdf.
- ⁴⁶ World Bank, Digital Transformation Drives Development in Africa. World Bank [blog], 18 January 2024. Available at: https://projects.worldbank.org/en/results/2024/01/18/digital-transformation-drives-development-in-afe-afw-africa (accessed 18 September 2024)
- ⁴⁷ Schwab K., The Fourth Industrial Revolution. World Economic Forum, 2016. Available at: https://www.weforum.org/about/the-fourth-industrial-revolution-by-klaus-schwab/
- ⁴⁸ UNDP launches Playbook to Increase fluency on emerging technologies for Africa's development (2022) [online]. Available at: https://www.undp.org/africa/press-releases/undp-launches-playbook-increase-fluency-emerging-technologies-africas-development (accessed 18 September 2024)
- ⁴⁹ South Africa and World Economic Forum Announce Intention to Establish 4IR Affiliate Centre (2019) [online]. Available at: https://www.csir.co.za/south-africa-and-world-economic-forum-announce-intention-establish-4ir-affiliate-centre (accessed 18 September 2024)
- ⁵⁰ Gillwald, A. South Africa Must Harness Technology in a Way That Helps Fix Its Problems. The Conversation (blog), 3 October 2019. Available at: http://theconversation.com/south-africa-must-harness-technology-in-a-way-that-helps-fix-its-problems-121191 (accessed 18 September 2019)
- ⁵¹ African Union, 2024. Continental Artificial Intelligence Strategy. Paragraph 2.4.3.1. Available at: https://au.int/en/documents/20240809/continental-artificial-intelligence-strategy.
- ⁵² Unwin, Tim. 'Reflections on the Global Digital Compact'. Tim Unwin's Blog (blog), 20 April 2023. https://unwin.wordpress.com/2023/04/20/reflections-on-the-global-digital-compact (accessed 18 September 2024).
- ⁵³ Research ICT Africa, 2020. Digital Futures: South Africa's Digital Readiness for the "Fourth Industrial Revolution". Page vii. Available at: https://researchictafrica.net/publication/digital-futures-south-africas-readiness-for-the-4ir/.
- ⁵⁴ Kovacs, A., Concept Note: Embodied Data and Just AI An Exploration of Key Questions. Research ICT Africa [blog], 5 April 2024, https://researchictafrica.net/2024/04/05/concept-note-embodied-data-and-just-ai-an-exploration-of-key-questions/ (accessed 18 September 2024)
- ⁵⁵ Unwin, T., Reflections on the Global Digital Compact. Tim Unwin's Blog [blog], 20 April 2023, https://unwin.wordpress.com/2023/04/20/reflections-on-the-global-digital-compact/ (accessed 18 September 2024)
- ⁵⁶ African Union. 'African Digital Compact', August 2024. https://au.int/en/documents/20240809/african-digital-compact-adc. Op. cit. Page 17.
- ⁵⁷ Development Initiatives, 2021. The data side of leaving no one behind. Available at: https://devinit.org/resources/data-side-leaving-no-one-behind/
- ⁵⁸ African Union Commission, 2022. AU Data Policy Framework. Available at: https://au.int/en/documents/20220728/au-data-policy-framework.
- ⁵⁹ González, J. L., Casalini, F. and Porras, J. A Preliminary Mapping of Data Localisation Measures. Paris: OECD, 13 June 2022. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1787/c5ca3fed-en.
- ⁶⁰ To see Microsoft's data centres, visit: https://datacenters.microsoft.com/globe/explore
- ⁶¹ To see cloud services globally, visit: https://www.cloudinfrastructuremap.com/#/
- 62 To see data centres in Africa, visit: https://www.datacentermap.com/africa/
- ⁶³ Abe, Shinzo. Speech by Prime Minister Abe at the World Economic Forum Annual Meeting. Davos, 23 January 2019. Available at: https://www.mofa.go.jp/ecm/ec/page4e_000973.html (accessed 18 September 2024)
- ⁶⁴ World Economic Forum, 2023. Data Free Flow with Trust: Overcoming Barriers to Cross-Border Data Flows. Available at: https://www.weforum.org/publications/data-free-flow-with-trust-overcoming-barriers-to-cross-border-data-flows/.
- ⁶⁵ OECD, 2023. Moving Forward on Data Free Flow with Trust: New Evidence and Analysis of Business Experiences. Paris: OECD, 27 April 2023. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1787/1afab147-en.
- ⁶⁶ OECD, 2023. Moving Forward on Data Free Flow with Trust: New Evidence and Analysis of Business Experiences. Paris: OECD, 27 April 2023. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1787/1afab147-en.

- ⁶⁷ United Nations, 2024. Global Digital Compact (Third Revision Silence Procedure). Available at: https://www.un.org/techenvoy/global-digital-compact. Op. cit. Paragraph 45.
- ⁶⁸ African Union. 'African Digital Compact', August 2024. https://au.int/en/documents/20240809/african-digital-compact-adc. Op.cit. Page 28.
- ⁶⁹ Meta, 2023. Meta's Submission of Inputs to the Global Digital Compact (GDC). Available at: https://www.un.org/techenvoy/global-digital-compact/submissions
- 70 "We support the leadership role of the UN in facilitating a global process to co-create principles toward an "open, free and secure digital future for all," and to improve global digital cooperation through the GDC". Meta, 2023. Meta's Submission of Inputs to the Global Digital Compact (GDC). Available at: https://www.un.org/techenvoy/global-digital-compact/submissions
- ⁷¹ For more information about the Information Technology Industry Council, see: https://www.itic.org/about/
- ⁷² For more information about the members of the Information Technology Industry Council, see: https://www.itic.org/about/membership/iti-members
- ⁷³ For more information about the Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, see: https://itif.org/about/
- ⁷⁴ Atkinson, R. D., Castro, D., Coniglio, J. V. and Ezell, S. 2024. A Techno-Economic Agenda for the Next Administration. ITIF, 10 June 2024. Available at: https://itif.org/publications/2024/06/10/a-techno-economic-agenda-for-the-next-administration/.
- ⁷⁵ Shoshana Zuboff is Professor of Business Administration, Harvard Business School.
- ⁷⁶ Zuboff, S. The Age of Surveillance Capitalism. The Fight for a Human Future at the New Frontier of Power. New York: Hachette Book Group, 2019. https://www.hachettebookgroup.com/titles/shoshana-zuboff/the-age-of-surveillance-capitalism/9781610395694/?lens=publicaffairs. Page 8.
- ⁷⁷ An oligopoly is a market in which control over an industry lies in the hands of a few large sellers who own a dominant share of the market.
- ⁷⁸ Zuboff, S. Surveillance Capitalism or Democracy? The Death Match of Institutional Orders and the Politics of Knowledge in Our Information Civilization. Organization Theory 3, no. 3 (21 November 2022): 26317877221129290. https://doi.org/10.1177/26317877221129290.
- ⁷⁹ Abeba Birhane is Senior Fellow in Trustworthy AI at Mozilla Foundation.
- ⁸⁰ Birhane, Abeba. Algorithmic Colonization of Africa. In Imagining AI: How the World Sees Intelligent Machines, edited by Stephen Cave and Kanta Dihal, 0. Oxford University Press, 2023. https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780192865366.003.0016.
- ⁸¹ Tim Unwin is Emeritus Professor of Geography at Royal Holloway, University of London.
- ⁸² Unwin, T. Reflections on the Global Digital Compact, Tim Unwin's Blog [blog], 20 April 2023, https://unwin.wordpress.com/2023/04/20/reflections-on-the-global-digital-compact/ (accessed 18 September 2023)
- ⁸³ United Nations, 2024. Global Digital Compact (Third Revision Silence Procedure). Available at: https://www.un.org/techenvoy/global-digital-compact. Op.cit. Paragraph 29.
- ⁸⁴ Anu Bradford is Professor of Law and International Organization at Columbia University School of Law.
- ⁸⁵ Bradford, A. Whose Al Revolution? Project Syndicate, 1 September 2023. https://www.project-syndicate.org/onpoint/ai-regulation-us-eu-china-challenges-opportunities-by-anu-bradford-2023-09 (accessed 18 September 2024)
- ⁸⁶ Alexander, F. Washington Wakes Up to Europe's Fair Share Danger, CEPA (blog), 23 May 2024, https://cepa.org/article/washington-wakes-up-to-europes-fair-share-danger/ (accessed 18 September 2024)
- ⁸⁷ Workman, G. and Heiber, J. G. The EU Data Act: A Misguided Policy. US Chamber of Commerce [blog], 2 March 2023. https://www.uschamber.com/international/the-eu-data-act-a-misguided-policy (accessed 18 September 2024).
- ⁸⁸ Bradford, A. Whose AI Revolution? Project Syndicate, 1 September 2023. https://www.project-syndicate.org/onpoint/ai-regulation-us-eu-china-challenges-opportunities-by-anu-bradford-2023-09 (accessed 18 September 2024)
- ⁸⁹ IETF, and W3C. An Open Letter to the United Nations. Open Internet Governance [blog], 1 July 2024. https://open-internet-governance.org/letter.html (accessed 18 September 2024).
- ⁹⁰ World Summit on the Information Society. Tunis Agenda for the Information Society, 2005. https://www.itu.int/net/wsis/docs2/tunis/off/6rev1.html. Paragraph 72. (accessed 18 September 2024)
- ⁹¹ European Union. March 2023. European Union contribution to the Global Digital Compact. https://www.eeas.europa.eu/delegations/un-new-york/global-digital-compact-bold-step-towards-digital-transformation_en

- ⁹² USA, 2023. Contribution of the United States of America for the Global Digital Compact. Available at: https://www.un.org/techenvoy/global-digital-compact/submissions
- ⁹³ IGF Leadership Panel, 2023. Contribution to consultation on the global digital compact Available at: https://www.intgovforum.org/en/content/leadership-panel-outputs-meeting-records (accessed 18 September 2024)
- ⁹⁴ Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers; Asia Pacific Network Information Centre; American Registry for Internet Numbers.
- ⁹⁵ Costerton, S., Curran, J. and Wilson, P. The Global Digital Compact: A Top-Down Attempt to Minimize the Role of the Technical Community. ICANN, [blog], 21 August 2023, https://www.icann.org/en/blogs/details/the-global-digital-compact-a-top-down-attempt-to-minimize-the-role-of-the-technical-community-21-08-2023-en (accessed 18 September 2024)
- ⁹⁶ Willis-Núñez, F. and Ćwiek, M. Thirty Years on, the Fundamental Principles of Official Statistics Remain the Shared Foundation of an Informed Society. Statistical Journal of the IAOS 38, no. 3 (13 September 2022): 711–23. https://doi.org/10.3233/SJI-220049.
- ⁹⁷ UNSD, 2014. Fundamental Principles of Official Statistics. Available at:
- https://unstats.un.org/unsd/dnss/gp/fundprinciples.aspx.
- ⁹⁸ United Nations, 2014. A World That Counts Data Revolution Report. Available at: https://www.undatarevolution.org/report/.
- ⁹⁹ Private correspondence with a member of CCS-UN.
- ¹⁰⁰ African Union. 'African Digital Compact', August 2024. https://au.int/en/documents/20240809/african-digital-compact-adc. Page 38.
- ¹⁰¹ African Union. 'African Digital Compact', August 2024. https://au.int/en/documents/20240809/african-digital-compact-adc. Page 67.
- ¹⁰² African Union. 'African Digital Compact', August 2024. https://au.int/en/documents/20240809/african-digital-compact-adc. Page 41.
- ¹⁰³ African Union. 'African Digital Compact', August 2024. https://au.int/en/documents/20240809/african-digital-compact-adc. Page 67.
- ¹⁰⁴ African Union. 'African Digital Compact', August 2024. https://au.int/en/documents/20240809/african-digital-compact-adc. Page 67.
- ¹⁰⁵ US, EU and China.
- ¹⁰⁶ Asia House. ASEAN's Digital Economic Framework Agreement May Be in Place by the End of 2024. Asia House, 13 June 2024, https://asiahouse.org/news-and-views/aseans-digital-economic-framework-agreement-may-be-in-place-by-the-end-of-2024/ (accessed 18 September 2024)
- ¹⁰⁷ Charles Kenny is Senior fellow at the Center for Global Development.
- ¹⁰⁸ Kenny, C. When It Comes to Data, Local Safeguards and Global Hosting Don't Have to Conflict. Center For Global Development (blog), 5 March 2024, https://www.cgdev.org/blog/when-it-comes-data-local-safeguards-and-global-hosting-dont-have-conflict (accessed 18 September 2024)
- ¹⁰⁹ Daniel, Jeremy. 'Data Protection Laws in Africa: What You Need to Know'. CIO (blog), 14 February 2021. https://www.cio.com/article/191345/data-protection-laws-in-africa-what-you-need-to-know.html.
- ¹¹⁰UN Global Pulse Uganda, [@UNGlobalPulseUG], 22 February 2024. *Delve into our new series of how external <u>#data</u> trends could impact <u>#Uganda</u> data ecosystem! Starting with how <u>#EU</u> regulations'. Twitter, https://x.com/UNGlobalPulseUG/status/1760654266941731152*
- 111 Records stored in DI's online Data Governance Database. Available at: https://datagov.devinit.org/.
- ¹¹² African Union, 2022. The Malabo Roadmap: Approaches to Promote Data Protection and Data Governance in Africa. Available at: https://dataprotection.africa/wp-content/uploads/malabo roadmap Sept 2022.pdf. (accessed 18 September 2024)
- ¹¹³ Timcke, S. and Hlomani, H. Decoding the Ballot: How Might AI Reshape Democracy on the African Continent?, Research ICT Africa [blog], 5 February 2024, https://researchictafrica.net/2024/02/05/how-might-ai-reshape-democracy-on-the-african-continent/ (accessed 18 September 2024)
- ¹¹⁴ African Union, 2024. Continental Artificial Intelligence Strategy. Available at: https://au.int/en/documents/20240809/continental-artificial-intelligence-strategy.
- ¹¹⁵ African Union, 2024. African Digital Compact. Available at: https://au.int/en/documents/20240809/african-digital-compact-adc.
- ¹¹⁶ African Union, 2024. African Digital Compact. Available at: https://au.int/en/documents/20240809/african-digital-compact-adc. Page 7.

¹¹⁷ African Union, 2024. African Digital Compact. Available at: https://au.int/en/documents/20240809/african-digital-compact-adc. Page 49.

¹¹⁸ African Union, 2024. African Digital Compact. Available at: https://au.int/en/documents/20240809/african-digital-compact-adc. Page 39.

¹¹⁹ African Union, 2024. The Digital Transformation Strategy for Africa (2020–2030). Available at: https://au.int/en/documents/20200518/digital-transformation-strategy-africa-2020-2030.

DI unlocks the power of data to enable policies and investments that improve the lives of people experiencing poverty, inequality and crisis.

Our mission is to work closely with partners to ensure datadriven evidence and analysis are used effectively in policy and practice to end poverty, reduce inequality and increase resilience.

While data alone cannot bring about a better world, it is a vital part of achieving it. Data has the power to unlock insight, shine a light on progress and empower people to increase accountability.

© Copyright 2024 Development initiatives. Content produced by Development Initiatives is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution BY-NC-ND 4.0 International license, unless stated otherwise on an image or page.

The boundaries and names or countries and regions used do not imply official endorsement or acceptance by Development Initiatives Poverty Research Ltd.

Contact
Bill Anderson
Knowledge and Innovation Lead
bill.anderson@devinit.org

To find out more about our work visit:

www.devinit.org
Twitter: @devinitorg
Email: info@devinit.org

Development Initiatives is the trading name of Development Initiatives Poverty Research Ltd, registered in England and Wales, Company No. 06368740, and DI International Ltd, registered in England and Wales, Company No. 5802543. Registered Office: First Floor Centre, The Quorum, Bond Street South, Bristol, BS1 3AE, UK

UK OFFICE

Development Initiatives
First Floor Centre, The Quorum
Bond Street South, Bristol
BS1 3AE, UK
+44 (0) 1179 272 505

KENYA OFFICE

Development Initiatives Shelter Afrique Building 4th Floor, Mamlaka Road Nairobi, Kenya PO Box 102802-00101 +254 (0) 20 272 5346

US OFFICE

Development Initiatives 1100 13th Street, NW, Suite 800, Washington DC 20005, US

UK OFFICE

Development Initiatives
First Floor Centre, The Quorum
Bond Street South, Bristol
BS1 3AE, UK
+44 (0) 1179 272 505